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CHAPTER 20

MODERN DEVELOPMENT OF THE BURGH
THOMAS PATERSON, 0.A., J.P.

YR, like most towns, has grown and expanded down the

years without any recognised plan of development. There
are examples of good planning to be found in many parts of the
town, but the great mass of building has taken place in an
unrelated fashion. This was, perhaps, unavoidable as the local
authority did not possess the powers necessary to control
development. It was not until 1909 that legislation was passed
to enable local authorities to exercise a negative measure
of control. That is to say, power was given to prevent certain
developments, rather than to ensure that development followed
an agreed plan. The passing of the 1909 act was the culmina-
tion of a long period of agitation by many prominent people to
convince Parliament that something more than the by-law
regulations under Public Health or Local Government Acts
was required to ensure satisfactory development.

Apart from the general provisions of the latter acts it was
open to local authorities to proceed by way of private bills to
secure improvements. Ayr Town Council in their Water Act,
1885, included in the measure proposals for widening High
Street and Kyle Street. The proposals were extremely modest,
however, and power to acquire land was limited to a distance
of 8o feet from the centre of the roadway. How little use was
made of these powers we know to-day when modern traffic
conditions compel us to visualise much wider streets.

Although the 1909 act gave local authorities powers to make
planning schemes, no steps were taken in Ayr to give effective
operation to the act. This was no doubt due to the cumbersome
procedure which the act entailed. A further serious considera-
tion was the heavy compensation which the local authority
had to pay whenever the planning scheme prevented land being
developed.
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324 THE ROYAL BURGH OF AYR

The next development in planning control was contained in
the Housing and Town Planning Act, 1919, where planning
was more closely associated with housing developments which
followed after the First World War. In 1925, however, housing
and town planning became separate subjects for legislation by
the Town Planning Act of that year. The next major develop-
ment was the passing of the Town and Country Planning Act,
1932, and it was under this act that Ayr Town Council began
to prepare an over-all plan for the town.

The first enterprise where planning provision had to be made
was the building of the Woodfield housing scheme. Here,
however, it was found all was not plain sailing. In the
economic and financial conditions following the First World
War, restrictions were imposed on local authorities. At Wood-
field it was found that to economise on costs roadways had
to be curtailed, provision for a shopping centre omitted, and
buildings pruned to severe limits. These features continued
to be apparent throughout all housing schemes between the
wars.

A measure of planning was introduced in the re-development
schemes carried out in the Wallacetown and Newton Green
areas. Here clearance areas had to be scheduled and old
properties and ruinous buildings cleared away. On the sites
so cleared new houses were erected of the flatted or modern
tenement type. An interesting—though pathetic—feature of
the Newton Green re-development was the number of cases in
which the old houses were owned by descendants of well-known
Ayr families who were unable to maintain the properties in
good order through lack of funds. In some cases the families
had been connected with the fishing industry which was a
feature of the burgh in earlier years. These properties were
purchased for site values only.

At a later stage there was developed at Taylor Street a new
type of housing in the shape of a hostel for elderly people. The
plan provided twelve single-storey one-apartment houses with
bathroom and kitchenette, built in a row of six houses on two
sides of a square. Another side of the square contained a
caretaker’s house and a large common room furnished as 2
lounge and reading-room. The internal area of the square was
laid out as a garden, and when completed the scheme was
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recommended as a model to be followed by other housing
authorities.

As these housing developments were proceeding, steps were
being taken under the Town and Country Planning Act, 1932,
to prepare a scheme for the burgh. A Joint Planning Committee
representing the burghs of Ayr and Prestwick and the County
Council was set up, and continued in office until the County
Council withdrew after the burgh of Ayr secured an extension
of boundaries in 1935.

Ayr proceeded with a scheme confined to the burgh. Confer-
ences were held with proprietors of land which was undeveloped
and general agreement was reached as to the type of develop-
ment to be permitted. The draft clauses in the scheme were
nearing completion for submission to the Secretary of State
for his approval when war broke out in 1939. During the war
it was not possible to go forward with the negotiations, and with
the passing of the Town and Country Planning (Interim De-
velopment) (Scotland) Act, 1943, which applied control of
development to the whole of the country, a new situation arose
which rendered it necessary to prepare a plan on different lines.

The passing of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland)
Act, 1947, brought up-to-date the powers of planning author-
ities which now consist of large burghs and county councils in
Scotland with the exception of the small burghs of St. Andrews
and Thurso which have retained their old rights. The compre-
hensive powers given to planning authorities under the 1947
act now permit of adequate control over development. Not
only can the authority prohibit development without incurring
the burden of compensation, but it can insist that development
be carried out in accordance with a plan prepared and ap-
proved.

Under the provisions of the act a comprehensive survey has
to be made to ascertain the general condition of properties in
the town, and these have to be classified as first, second, and
third class. Upon this survey is based the future re-development.
The plan must contain in broad outline the main features in
road work, public services, zones for industry and residential
areas. To ensure flexibility the plan has to be reviewed every
five years and modifications made to suit the requirements of
the time.
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Fortunately much of the preliminary work carried out on
the original plan conforms to what is required to-day, and it
is now possible to see a little way ahead. At present the town
has been divided into eight areas in priority of development.
Arxea No. 1 is the Newton Green west of the railway serving the
goods station. It is proposed that this should form an industrial
zone so that those industrial units which are scattered through-
out business and residential areas may be concentrated in one
district. The site is ideal in that it is served by road, rail and
sea. Road facilities are to be improved by the widening of
Hall’s Vennel bridge, which will have a new approach con-
structed on the west side. On the east side improvements will
be made to enable ingoing and outgoing traffic to be handled
by different routes. Another industrial zone has been sited
adjacent to the railway at Lochside, and this is intended for
light industrial processes. This should in large measure provide
sufficient area for expanding industry for some time to come.

As has been stated, the other development areas in order of
priority are arranged in eight areas for the purpose of deter-
mining the priority stages in which the re-development will be
carried out. These areas are as follows:

Area 2. Main Street east side, New Road east side, View-
field Road south and west sides, George Street west side, and
River Street north side.

Area 3. George Street south-east side, on the east by the
railway to Craigie Avenue, Craigie Avenue south side, Craigie
Road west side to river, and on the west and south by the
river Ayr.

Area 4. New Bridge, river Ayr to east corner Ayr County
Hospital, Holmston Road north side, Station Bridge, Burns
Statue Square north side, Alloway Street east side, High Street
east and north sides, and New Bridge Street east side. This
area includes Burns Statue Square and surrounding plot.

Area 5. New Bridge Street west side, Sandgate west side,
Alloway Place west side, Fairfield Road north side to sea,
Esplanade to river Ayr, and river Ayr to New Bridge west side.

Area 6. High Street south and west sides, Alloway Street
west side, Killoch Place west side, Miller Road north side;
Alloway Place east side, Sandgate east side to junction of
Sandgate, and High Street.
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Area 7. From sea to Fairfield Road south side, Racecourse
Road, Miller Road south side, Burns Statue Square south side,
Station Bridge south side, Castlehill Road west side to junction
with Inverkar Road, Bowman Road west side, Chalmers Road
south side, Carrick Road, Broomfield Road north side, South-
park Road north side, Racecourse Road west side, Blackburn
Road north side to sea, and esplanade to point opposite Fair-
field Road; and

Area 8. Burgh boundary on the north from sea to Prestwick
Road east side, Prestwick Road east side, Seaforth Road south
side, Hunter’s Avenue east side, Northfield Avenue north side,
West Sanquhar Road east side, Back Hawkhill Avenue north
and east sides, Whitletts Road north side to the railway, along
railway to Viewfield Road north side, Waggon Road north
side to railway, railway east side to Saltpans Road, Saltpans
Road south side to sea.

These proposed areas were adopted by the Town Council on
8th September 1947, and work has gone steadily forward with
the preparation of the Development Plan. At the time of writ-
ing, however, only areas 1 and 2 have been extensively con-
sidered. In area 2 there has been proposed a civic development
in the district bounded by River Street, Garden Street, Wallace
Street and King Street. It is suggested that a new Town Hall
capable of seating 2,500 should be sited facing the river, and
that an indoor swimming bath and modern office accommo-
dation could be provided here.

The area from the west side of Garden Street to the Library
lends itself to re-development also. The expanding needs of
the Library call for extension, and a well-designed building
could provide for this and for meetings of the various cultural
bodies in connexion with the Library. It would be appropriate,
too, that provision should be made for the church hall activities
of the Darlington Church as the existing hall would be demol-
ished in the reconstruction suggested above.

Under a Provisional Order the Town Council were author-
ised to construct a dam across the river west of the new railway
bridge carrying the railway to the south side of the river.
When offers were taken to proceed with the work, however, it
was decided the cost was too high and consideration of the
scheme was deferred. With the outbreak of war in 1939 it was
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impossible to take further steps in the matter, but the period
granted by the Provisional Order to complete the work was
extended from time to time. Unfortunately the work could not
be started because of national restrictions on capital expendi-
ture, and the statutory powers have lapsed.

It is desirable, however, that provision of the dam should be
one of the features in the Development Plan. New Parlia-
mentary powers will be required to proceed with the construc-
tion of the dam, but in view of the agreement reached with all
interested parties on the previous occasion it may be assumed
that these powers would be obtained. :

With the construction of the dam there would be made
available a fine stretch of safe water for boating. A natural
corollary is the proposal to open up broad pathways on each
side of the river between the Auld Brig and Victoria Bridge.
This would bring into use an amenity of great value to the
citizens. The vast increase in modern road traffic has brought
problems which demand immediate attention. The first con-
sideration should be the relief of traffic using the New Bridge
which has now reached a volume imposing excessive strain on
the fabric.

The best method, I think, to achieve this relief is by the
erection of a new traffic bridge across the river. The natural
site for such a bridge is on the line of the existing Turner’s
Bridge, which bridge, gifted to the town by Mr. Turner, a local
businessman, has served pedestrian traffic admirably for many
years. It could, with care, be dismantled and reconstructed
somewhere on the upper reaches of the river, and make possible
an access to Craigie estate for those resident in the Holmston-
Castlehill areas. In conjunction with the new traffic bridge is
involved the widening of the lower portion of Mill Street and
also Carrick Street. This would in turn require the formation
of a traffic circus round the Wallace Tower which has now
become a major obstruction to the flow of traffic. The re-align-
ment of buildings on the east side of High Street, north and
south of the Tower, which this scheme will entail will also
improve traffic conditions and increase amenity.

The planning of the area between High Street and the river
will not be an easy task owing to the nature of the ground
levels. Taking the long term view, the removal of the old
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electricity works buildings, the abattoir, mills and other
commercial undertakings would seem necessary if the best use
is to be made of the area. The Tam o’ Shanter Inn will be
preserved, and, in accordance with the undertaking given by
the Town Council when the property was purchased, be
maintained as a museum.

How best to do this will no doubt be decided in due course
in the light of existing circumstances. To my mind the develop-
ment could be coupled with the re-development of Mill Street.
The setting back of the building line on the west side of the
street, and the building of blocks of flats for housing would give
scope for architectural skill in both design and lay-out. An
arcade from High Street to Mill Street using the present Tam
o’ Shanter Close, and with shops on either side, would provide
an ideal shopping centre.

Another desirable facility required to cater for the increasing
number of day trippers is a restaurant capable of seating 600
or 700 people. As the Town Council are now empowered by
Statute to provide this service it seems a feasible proposition for
this to be provided adjacent to the Tam o’ Shanter Inn. By
erecting the restaurant building as a cover for the arcade
already mentioned it would be possible to make the inn a part
of the general plan.

The development of the area between High Street and Dal-
blair Road does not present the same problems. The widening
of the latter will do much to ease the traffic on High Street.
The need for ample parking facilities suggests that this could
be provided easily between High Street and Dalblair Road.
Again the long term view suggests the removal of the seed stores
to link up with the development taking place at Saltpans Road
or alternatively to a site in the adjacent industrial zone. The
buildings already purchased at the junction of Dalblair Road
and Carrick Street for road widening purposes by the Town
Council could be replaced by a crescent-shaped block of
residential service flats facing west. The need for this provision
is of some urgency, and could well form part of an early
development.

To avoid interference with the flow of traffic the vehicle
entrance to the proposed car park should be confined to
Carrick Street. One or more exits for pedestrians, however,
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should be made both to High Street and Dalblair Road.

The re-development of the area to the west of Sandgate from
the river to Wellington Square will also require careful hand-
ling. The Academy and Loudoun Hall are two focal points.

These will have to be preserved and will, to a large extent,
dominate the plan. Again it will be necessary to remove some
commercial buildings to the industrial zones to permit of proper
development. Added shopping facilities and residential accom-
modation could be provided in their place.

In this area the problem of combining commercial, industrial,
and residential buildings will need careful planning. There are
the buildings required for harbour trade, shipyard facilities,
and the gasworks. The first and second of these will be less
difficult than the third. It is to be hoped that the trade of the
harbour will become increasingly important, and with the
development of the Ayrshire coalfields export trade should
increase. Imports should also develop with a return to normal
international conditions, and most of the older dwelling-houses
in South Harbour Street may need to be replaced by wharf
accommodation. Storage space, too, for the fishing trade is
needed and this could be provided on the sites occupied by
these old houses. This would do much to clean up the unsightly
accumulation of fishboxes along the river side.

The problem of the gasworks still remains, but it is to be
hoped that the integration of the gas industry under the Gas
Board will result in the elimination of the works in this area as
well as those on the Newton side. It is not too much to hope
that the industry will concentrate production nearer the coal
area and pipe it to distribution centres similar to the supply of
electricity. Planning permission has been given for the erection
of a new gasometer in the industrial zone at Newton Green.
This is of immense storage capacity and while its height will
make it a prominent feature of that area it will not be out of
keeping with the development of the area as a whole. If it is
possible to remove the existing production plants as suggested
the sea-front area of the Fort district will be greatly improved.

The concentration of civic administration calls for the con-
version of shops to office accommodation in the Town Buildings.
This seems to me preferable to the building of new premises
for this purpose, though the latter has its attractions. The
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existing buildings have architectural beauty which is destroyed
by the painted stonework at the base, and have added dignity
by the fine steeple which rises from them.

The final proposal which might be considered is the widening
of the New Bridge. The volume of traffic using the bridge is
already heavy and is likely to increase even although a new
bridge has been erected at Mill Street. Properties were pur-
chased and the area cleared on the north side of High Street as
part of a plan for this widening. The extension of this clearance
to the river and the widening of the New Bridge on the east
side would also be of assistance in handling traffic. It would
be possible to split traffic lines at the north end of the bridge
to permit of High Street traffic taking the inner line, and Sand-
gate traffic the outer line. This would permit filtering of traffic
into High Street, and avoid the delay which takes place at
present.

The expansion of the residential areas of the town will in due
time call for increased local bus services making connexions
much easier than at present. The possibility of several circular
routes being introduced is visualised in the road plan for the
future. The widening and re-alignment of Heathfield Road is
one of the most urgent improvements required towards this
end. With the construction of the proposed new sewer with
a southern outfall beyond the Doon, the development of this
part of the burgh should not be long delayed. As this area is
zoned as residential the need for cross-country bus routes to
Castlehill and Craigie will be recognised.



CHAPTER 2I

GENERAL BIBLIOGRAPHY
James W. ForsyTH, F.L.A.

HE reader who wishes to study the history of Ayr in greater

detail will find that the following books will suffice for a
superficial introduction to the subject. The list is not exhaustive,
but it contains those books which have proved useful and are
readily accessible. They are arranged in what most nearly
approximates to chronological order.

The student, who will not be content with the published
work of others but requires the source material for his research,
is advised to consult the Ayrshire Collection at Ayr Carnegie
Library and is also reminded of the Burgh Records in possession
of the Town Clerk, the Kirk-session Records of the Auld Kirk
and the Presbytery Records, the Registers of the Great and
Privy Seals of Scotland, the publications of the Scottish History
Society and other more specialised sources referred to in the
foregoing chapters.

CuALMERS, GEORGE: Caledonia, or a Historical and Topographical
Account of North Britain from the most ancient times. 1887 edn.

SmrtH, JoHN: Prehistoric Man in Ayrshire. 1895

PATERSON, JaMEs: History of the County of Ayr, with a genealogical
account of the families of Ayrshire. 2 vols. 1847/1852.

Vol. 1: General history of the county, followed by an account
of the Parishes of Ayr and Newton-on-Ayr. Other parishes ar-
ranged alphabetically—Ardrossan to Dalry.

Vol. 2: Parishes—Dundonald to Tarbolton including St.

Quivox.
PATERSON, JaMES: History of the Counties of Ayr and Wigtown. 5 vols.

1863/1866.
An enlargement of the former work and a re-arrangement of

material.

Vol. 1: Kyle, contains the history of Kyle and accounts of the .

Parishes of Ayr, Newton-on-Ayr and St. Quivox.
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RoserTsON, WiLLiaM (edt.): Historic Ayrshire, being a collection of
e)étracts from historical works relating to Ayrshire. 2 vols. 1891/
1894.

Vol. 1: Extracts from Pitcairn’s Criminal Trials and Fullarton’s
Agriculture of the County of Ayr, etc.

Vol. 2: Extracts from Chalmers’ Caledonia and the Statistical
Accounts.

RoserTsON, WiLLiam: Ayrshire, its History and Historic Families.
2 vols. 1908.
Vol. 1 contains a sketch of Ayrshire history.
Vol. 2 deals with the principal county families.

MurrAY, Davio: Early Burgh Organisation in Scotland as illustrated in
the History of Glasgow and of some neighbouring burghs. 2 vols. 1932.
Vol. 2 contains Newton-on-Ayr and Ayr.

CocrrAN-PATRICK, R. W. (edt.): Charters of the Friars Preachers of
Ayr. 1881.

.(Co)llcctions of the Ayr and Wigtown Archaeological Associ-
ation.

CoorEr, W. S. (edt.): Charters of the Royal Burgh of Ayr. 1883.
(Collections of the Ayr and Wigtown Archaeological Associ-
ation.)

Morris, James A.: The Brig of Ayr, and Something of its Story. 1910.

CampBELL, JANE (edt.): Air Academy and Burgh Schule, 1233/1895.
1895.
Bure, MARQUESS OF: The Burning of the Barns of Ayr. 1878.

Dickson, THOMAS (edt.): Proceedings of the Gild Court of Ayr, from the
Ayr Manuscript. 1878.
(Collections of the Ayr and Wigtown Archaeological Associ-
ation, Vol. 1.)

Morris, James A.: The Auld Toon o> Ayr, reprinted with additional
notes from the handbook of the congress of the Educational
Institute of Scotland at Ayr, 1927. 1928.

Contains illustrations of the burgh seals.

RoserTsoN, WiLLiam: Historical Tales and Legends of Ayrshire. 1889.
Many references to Ayr and includes the story of the Tower of
St. John.

LyoN, DAviID MURRAY: Ayr in the Olden Times. 1928.
Extracts from manuscript records in the burgh archives, 1428
to date, and from presbytery and kirk-session records.
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PATERSON, JaMES: The Obit Book of the Church of St. John the Baptist,
Ayr, with a translation, historical sketch, illustrative notes, etc.
1848.

Mackenzie, REv. ArcHIBALD: An Ancient Church—the pre-Refor-
mation Church of St. John the Baptist, Ayr. 1935.

Carrick, Rev. J. C.: The Tower of St. John the Baptist at Ayr. 1913.
Booklet designed to arouse interest in an appeal for the preser-
vation of St. John’s Kirk.

Murray, Davip: Legal practice in Ayr and the West of Scotland in the
fifteenth and sixteenth centuries, a study in economic history. 1910.
PryDE, GEORGE S. (edt.): Ayr Burgh Accounts 15341624, transcribed
and edited with an introduction. 1937.

(Scottish History Society.)

SmrtH, JoHN (edt.): Memorabilia of the City of Glasgow. 1835.
Pages 1-20 are extracted from Ayr burgh records 1550/1559.

Younag, JaMEs,: Life of John Welsh, Minister of Ayr; including illus-
trations of the contemporary ecclesiastical history of Scotland
and France. 1866.

Pacan, Joun H.: Annals of Ayr in the Olden Times, 1560[1692. 1897.
From the records of the town council, kirk-session and presby-
tery.
AYRSHIRE ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND NATURAL HisTory SocieTy: Col-
lections, second series, Vol. 1. 1947/1949.
Includes: John Welch and his garden; Loudoun Hall and its
owners; The old harbour, to 1603; Dr. John Taylor, chartist.

DogIE, JoHN SHEDDEN (edt.): John Mason’s Protocol Book and abstracts
from his Notarial Notebook, 1582[1612. 1889.
(Collections of the Ayrshire and Galloway Archaeological
Association, Vol. 6.)
John Mason was clerk of the Burgh of Ayr.
Hewart, REv. Kirkwoob: In the Olden Times. 1898.
Church of St. John, Rev. John Welch, Roundheads in Ayr, etc.
MACKENZIE, REV. ARCHIBALD: William Adair and his Kirk—the Auld
Kirk of Ayr, 1639/1684. 1933.
Covers the Cromwellian and Covenanting periods.
HawmiztoN, THOMAS: Poor Relief in South Ayrshire, 1700[1845. 1942.
CALDWELL, DAvID: Poor Law administration—History of the Parish of
Ayr, 1756-1895. 1895.
DoucaLr, CHARLES S.: The Burns Country. 1904.
Includes chapter on auld Ayr.
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SINCLAIR, SIR Joun: The Statistical Account of Scotland. 21 vols.
1791-1799
Vols. 1 and 21 contain Ayr Parish.
Vol. 2 contains Ayr and Newton-on-Ayr Parishes.
Vol. 7 contains St. Quivox Parish.

Gray, Henry C.: The Auld Toon o’ Ayr and its History since 1800.
1872.

FErGusoN, James M.: Auld Ayr—sketches and reminiscences chiefly
descriptive of Ayr since the beginning of the nineteenth century.
1884.

FERGUSON, James M.: Reminiscences of Auld Ayr, reprinted from the
Apyr Observer, to which is added sketches and traditions descriptive
of Ayr since the beginning of the nineteenth century. 1907.

Howir, James: An Historical Account of the Town of Ayr for the past
Fifty Years, with notable occurrences during that time from
personal recollection. 1861.

Brief Historical Reminiscences of the County and Town of Ayr, to which is
added a correct list of the magistrates, respectable inhabitants,
persons in business, etc. (McCarter). 1830.

See also subsequent burgh directories.

CUNNINGHAME, J. and Ivory, J.: Local Reports from Commissioners on
Municipal Corporations in Scotland—Report on the Burgh of Ayr and the
Town of Newton-upon-Ayr. 1835.

Bairp, WirLiam: Sixty Years of Church Life in Ayr—the history of Ayr

Free Church from 1836 to 1896. 1896.

The New Statistical Account of Scotland. 1845.

Vol. 5 contains all parishes of Ayrshire.

CALDWELL, DAvID: The Kipper Fair and Cadger Races, an entertaining
sketch of life and character 50 years ago. ¢. 1900.

PATERSON, JAMES: Reminiscences of Auld Ayr. 1864.

A collection of articles on characters and customs.

WiLsoN, W. (Rab the Rambler): Rambles on the Banks of the Ayr from
the sea to its source. 1884.

RoBeRrTsON, WiLLiaM: Auld Ayr, a study in disappearing men and
manners. 19OI.

The worthies, the Whigs of Ayr, the eccentrics of Ayr.
BryDEN, ROBERT: Eichings of Auld Ayr and some Ayr Characters. 1898,
STRAWHORN, JouN and Bovp, Wirriam: Third Statistical Account of

Scotland—Ayrshire. 1951.
Part 2, chapter 6—Ayr district.
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MAPS AND PLANS

1534-1624: Plan of Ayr [reconstructed] during the period of the

1654:
1654:
1754+
17—:
1773+

1818:

1826:
1832:

1832:

1858:

Accounts in Ayr Burgh Accounts, ed. by G. S. Pryde.

Blaeu’s Atlas—Province of Kyle.

Plan of the Citadel and Town of Ayr by Hans Ewald Tessin.

First military survey of Scotland.

Plan of the Town and Citadel of Ayr, surveyed by T. Walker.

Plan of the Town of Ayr, from Armstrong’s Map of Ayrshire
in Murray’s Legal Practice in Ayr.

Plan of the Town and part of the Parishes of Ayr, Newton
upon Ayr and St. Quivox, by John Wood.

The Lands of Newton.

Ayr and Suburbs, from Government reports upon parlia-
mentary boundaries.

Plan and views of Ayr, engraved by A. St. Clair in McCar-
ter’s Public Lists and Directory of Ayr.

Ordnance Survey sheets, with revisions to date.

——

INDEX

Accounts of the Burgh, 27, 32, 37,
49, 201, 273
Adair, William, minister, 109-13,
168, 170, 277
Agricultural machinery, 178
Air Advertiser, 280-2
Aldermen, 27, 28, 316
Allan, master of schools, 212
Alloway, Lord, 84, 301-2
Alloway, Barony of, 23, 31, 49
Church, 127, 155
Lands of, 22, 26
Parish of, 23, 89, 127
Altars in St. John’s Church, 94
Antiburgher Church, 128, 156
Apprenticeship of poor boys, 255
Artists, 309-10
Auld Brig, 23, 65
Auld Kirk of Ayr, 111, 126, 154
Auld Toor Port, 75
Apyr, sailing clipper, 205
Ayr Academy, 215, 220-3, 238
Ayr (Air) Advertiser, 280-2
Agriculturalist, 282
Ayr and Wallacetown Free Church,
132, 159
Ayr and Wigtownshire Courier, 281
(Ayr) Observer, 281
Apyrshire Argus, 283
Ayrshire Banking Co., 181
Ayrshire Courier, 283
Express, 282
Post, 284
Weekly News, 283

Bailies (ballivi), 25, 27, 28
Bank of Scotland, 181
Banks and Banking, 180
Baptist Church, 140-1, 165
Black Death, 272

Black Friars (Dominican), 20, 96-9
Blair, Sir James Hunter, 288-9
Boat Vennal, 71
Boundaries of the Burgh, 3, 11-12,
50, 51, 59 0.

Brewing and Malting, 179
Bridges:

Auld Brig, 23, 65

New Bridge, 191

Proposed Traffic Bridge, 328
Bridge Tolls, 189
Brig Port, 75-6

Vennel, 71
Brown, George Douglas, 314
Burgess plots, 4, 12
Burgesses, 28, 48
Burgh Officer, 28

School, 212
Burgher Church, 129, 156
Burns, Robert, 216, 285
Burrowfield, 11, 12
Butter Market, 194

Cambergait, 69
Campbells of Loudoun, sheriffs, 20,
25-6
Carcluie, Lands of, 22
Carmelites, 20
Carrick Port, 74
Vennel, 71
Castle of Ayr, 5, 81
Cathcart, Hon. Charles, 70, 85
Cathcart, David (Lord Alloway),
84, 301-2
Cathcart Street Church, 130, 157
Cattle Market, 189, 195
Caw, Sir James Lewis, 308
Charters:
1203/1206, William the Lion, 1-18
Dating of, 17
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Charters—continued
Importance of; 4
Transcription of, I
Translation of, 3
1236, Alexander 11, 22, 23
13231324, Robert 1, 23, 174
1380, Robert 11, 84
1400, Robert 111, 25
Children, Welfare of, 264-5
Church, Pre-Reformation, 88-103
Reformation to 1800, 104-21
After 1800, 122-65
Burgh payments to, 32 37, 89,
101, 106
Buildings, 150-2
Men, famous, 310-2
of St. John the Baptist, 81, 93-
96, 104, 114, 212
Schools, 212, 228
Churches, complete list of, 154-65
See also under individual names
Citadel, 44, 81, 110, 199
Civic Theatre, 129, 156
Clark, Dr. Thomas, 291-2
Clenger (street cleaner), 77, 269-70
Coal Export Trade, 2034, 211
Pits, 55, 57> 177-8, 203
Cochrane, Andrew, 287-8
Common Good, 32, 45, 101
Concord Company, 199
Confession, General (1647), 278
Corton, Lands of, 22
Court, Guild, 28, 34
Head, 34
Justiciary, 42-3
Covenant, National, 109
Cow Port, 75
Vennel, 71, 84
Cowan, John (Lord Cowan), 302-3
Craufurd, Reginald de, sheriff, 7
Cromwell, Oliver, 44, 81, 110, 199
Cunning Park, 112
Customs, Free, 7

Dalmulin, 20, 83, 83

Dalrymple, William, minister, 117~
20, 216

Dam, proposed, on River Ayr, 327

Darien Scheme, contribution, 175,
200

Darlington Place Church, 129, 157

Development of the Burgh, 19-52

Development Plan, 327

Dickie, James & Co., 179

Disruption (1843), 144

Dock, Slip, 210

Wet, 209

Dominican Church of St. Katherine,
20, 92, 96-9

Doon, River, change of course, 11, 66

Doongait, 69, 84

Douglas, Heron & Co., 180

Drop Forging, 179

Dukit Stream Ford, 68, 83, 97

Eccles, William, minister, 111, 113-5
168

FEconomic Development, 174-81

Episcopacy, 111

Examination Day, 237

Expenditure of the Burgh, 27, 32, 37>

49, 273
Exports and Imports, 30, 206

Fairs, Horse, 184
Michaelmas, 24, 26, 184
Midsummer, 24, 184, 195
1858 and 1876, 185

Fauldbacks, 195

Fergusson, James, 294-6

Fermes, 22, 25, 37> 44

Fish Cross, 190, 191

Fishings of Ayr and Doon, 23, 31,

32, 88

Flesh Market, 194

Fords, 65, 68-9

Foul Mure, 269, 275
Vennel, 71

Foundries, 178

Franciscan Church of Grey Friars,

20, 99-103

Free Church, 135, 161

Friars, Preaching, 20, 88, 96-9
Vennel, 72

Fullarton Street, 78

INDEX

Gadgirth Vennel, 72

Gemmell, John, schoolmaster, 224

Geological formation, 66

Gilbertines, 20, 83, 83

Gilis Vennel, 72

Glasgow Union Banking Co., 181

Goodman, Christopher, minister,
105

Grammar School, 212, 214, 216,
219, 233

Gray, William C., carpets, 177

Greig, Captain William, 299

Grey Friars (Franciscan), 20, 99-103

Guild Brethren, 28-9

Courts, 28, 34

Harbour, 43, 66, 197-211
Charters, 24
Dredging of, 208
Trustees, 208
Upkeep of, 207
Harper, James, medical officer,
2%76-7
Holmston School, 227
Holy Trinity (Episcopal) Church,
136, 162
Horse Market, 195
Housing Schemes, 324
Hunter, William (Lord Hunter),
305-6
Hunter & Co., bankers, 181

Imports and Exports, 30, 206
Independent (Congregational)
Church, 138, 163
Irvine, Burgh, relations with, 29-30,
39, 187
medieval burgh of, 21

Jameson, Andrew (Lord Ardwell),
303-4
Katy Lake, 70
King’s Peace, 12, 183
Kipper Fair, 187, 202
Kirk Port, 75
Port Vennel, 72
Session, Poor relief, 250
Vennel, 72

339
Knox, John, 104
Kyle Combination Poorhouse,
259
Port, 74

Lgdy Jane Hamilton’s School, 228
Lime kilns, 210 y
Lindsay, William Schaw -
Linen Trade, 176 g
Lochside Church of Scotland, 135

150, 161 ,
Lottery Hall, 210

Macada;}n (John) & Co., bankers,
180
McAdam, John Loudon, 289-g1
McConnell & McCracken, brewers,
179
McCrie, Rev. C. G., 133
Macdonald, Sir George, 312-3
McGill, William, minister, 119-20
Mcllwraith, Sir Thomas, 300-1
Mackail, John William, 313
McKnight & Co., shipyard, 205
Magistrates, Election of, 41, 48
Mair, John, schoolmaster, 217-8
Malt Cross, 190, 191
Market Cross, 190
Market Days, 190
Saturday, 3, 8, 182, 190
Sunday, 188
Others, 190
Martyrs Free Church, 133, 135, 160
Mary, Queen of Scots, visit, 95-6
Mauchline, Burgh of, relations with,
40
Maybole, Burgh of, relations with,
40, 188
Meal Market, 192-3
Medical Officer appointed (1603),
276
Meikleham, William, schoolmaster,
221
Merchant Booth Keepers, 174, 199
Merchant Company, 174
Merchant Guild, 24, 29
Mill Vennel, 72
Mills and Milling, 37, 9% 98
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Monasteries, Ayrshire, 19-20

Montgomerie, James, coal export,
203

Montgomerieston, Burgh of, 44, 82,
179

Moravian Union, 121, 136-7, 162

Morison Congregational Church,
140, 164

Muniments of the Burgh, 19, 26, 92

Murdoch, John, teacher of Burns,
118 n., 216

Needlework, Ayrshire, 176
Newmarket Street, 85
Newspapers, 279-84
Newton Academy, 231, 246

Castle, 82

Fishermen, 201

Freemen, go

Green, 207, 324

Market Cross, 79

Ports, 76
Newton-upon-Ayr, Burgh of, 21, 50,

53
Relations with, 39
Free Church, 131, 158
School, 229, 230
Parish Church, 119, 126, 154
School, 224, 229
Nugent, Captain Lawrence, 70, 85

Obit Book of Ayr, 94

Observatine (Grey) Friars, 20, 99-
103

Oliver, Sir Thomas, 306-7

Origin of the Burgh, 6

Osborne, Maggie, witch, 166, 171-3

Over Port, 75

Papingo, 38

Parishes, Medieval, 20

Parliamentary Representation, 28,
47, 50

Parochial Board, 257-8, 260

Paton’s Saw-mills, 210

Patrick, Dr. David, 314

Paupers, Treatment of, 249

Peden, Alexander, the prophet, 112
Peebles, William, minister, 87, 119,
126
Pennylands (five), 3, 11, 22
Pest, the, 35, 268, 272
Plague, the, 266-78
Poor Relief, 248-65
Poorhouse established, 1756, 251
Population, 53-64
Age and sex structure, 62 (diag.),
63 (table)
Distribution of, 56 (map)
Statistics, 63
Webster, 48
1951 census, 50
1755-1951, 54 (graph), 59
(table)
Porterfield, John, minister, 105,
106
Ports, 74
See also under individual names
Prepositi, 24, 27, 316
Prestwick, Medieval Burgh of, 21
Provost, 27, 42, 316
Provosts, Chronological list of, 316-
22

Quarantine, 271
Quarry Vennel, 72
Quarrygait, 69

Railway (Glasgow-Ayr), 55

Railway Company, Harbour con-
trol, 210

Raised Beaches, 66

Ramsay, Andrew Michael (Cheva-
lier), 285-7

Ratton Hole and Quay, 207, 209

Red Friars (Trinitarian), 20, 92

Reformation, the, 35, 92, 95, 99

Relief Church, 129-30, 157

Revenues of the Burgh, 25, 31, 36-7,
49, 93, 189

Revolution of 1685, 46

Robert the Bruce holds Parliament,
81, 9o

Robertson Memorial Church, 129,

156

Rogers,‘ Miss M., schoolmistress, 225
Ross, Sir John, g15
Routh, Friar John, 102

INDEX 341
Tam o’ Shanter Inn, 329
Taxes, 183
Taylor (George) & Co., coal mer-
chants, 203

St. Andrew’s Free Church, 133, 134,
161
St. James’s Church, 127, 155
St. John’s Kirk (pre-Reformation),
81, 93-96
Tower, 93
St. Katherine’s Well, g7
St. Leonard’s Chapel, 83, 105
Church, 127, 155
St. Margaret’s R.C. Church, 138,
163
St. Quivox, 53
Sandgate Church, 132, 149, 159
Port, 74
Sang School, 212, 214
Savings Bank, 181
School Board, 235-6
Hours, 213, 223
Vennel, 72
Schools, 212-47
for Girls, 242-3
Private, forbidden, 214
Scottish Stamping and Engineering
Co., 178
Sea Port, 75
Seagait, 69
Secession Churches, 128-131
Shang, Susanna, witch, 168
Sheriff, Burgh relations with, 23, 24,
25, 91, 183, 184
Shipbuilding, 22, 89, 204
Ship-repairing, 206
Shoemaking, 179
Site of the Burgh, 65
Sloan and Gemmel, shipyard, 204
Smellie (Smylie), Jonet, witch, 111,
170
Smith’s Institution, 226-7
Sports and Games, 244-6
Springvale Park, 246
Steamer Services, 205
Stobacre Ford, 68
Streets, 68-87
Surnames common in Ayr, 29

Taylor, Dr. John, 292-4
Teachers, appointment of, 217
Payment of, 213, 219, 221, 224
Perquisites, 220, 224
Templelands, g2
Templeton, James, carpets, 176
Test Act (1682), 113, 215
Timber Trade, 204
Tobacco Trade, 198, 202
Tolls:
Check Points, 4, 13-16
Freedom from, 3, g-10
Tower of St. John, g3
Town Clerk, 28
Town Council, 27, 33, 50, 51
Elections, 34, 40-1
Kirking of, 114
Poor Relief work, 250, 252
Town Planning, 323
Trade, Decaying (1670), 45, 198,
200
Foreign, g0, 197
Privileges abolished, 186
With Colonies, 197
Trades, Incorporated, 49, 55, 174
Trinitarians, 20
Trinity U.P. Church, 130, 158
Vennel, 73
Turner’s Newton Brewery, 67, 179

Union of Parliaments, Ayr and, 47
United Free Church (Continuing),
135, 161

Vennels, 71-3, 84 n.

Waggon Road, 204

Wallace Bros., reaping machines,
178

Wallace Street E.U. Church, 139,
163

U.P. Church, 130, 164
Wallaces of Craigie, 82
Wallacetown, 55
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Wallacetown (contd.)
Church, 126-7, 155
Free Church, 133, 159
Public School, 233
Water Vennel, 73
Weaving, 176
Web Market, 193, 194 .
Weir & Co., fertilisers, 179
Welch, John, minister, 106-8, 275
Welfare Home and Hospital, 262-4
Wells, 67
Wesleyan Methodist Church, 137,
163
Western Argus, 283
Watchman, 282
Whipmen’s Society, 187

INDEX

White Friars (Carmelites), 20

Whitletts, 55

Willock, John, minister, 104

Wilson, John, printer, 280

Witchceraft, 166-73

Witches, Burning of, 42, 168-170

Woodburn, Sir John, g15

Woodgait, 69, 73

Wool Market, 193

Woollen Manufactory, 175

Wyllie (Daniel) & Co., fertilisers,
180

Young, J. & T., threshing machines,
178
Young, John, 296-7
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